#### International Alert

International Alert (IA) is a non-governmental organisation based in the UK. IA has a multinational team of 60 staff including volunteers and interns. The creation of the organisation was a response to the rise in violent conflict within countries and the subsequent abuse of individual and collective human rights in conflict situations. It aims to address the root causes of violence and contribute to the just and peaceful transformation of violent internal conflict. Today there is an ever more pressing need for conflict resolution and peace building efforts. IA was among the first organisations to work specifically on women, peace and conflict. In 1995 IA initiated a programme focusing on women and peace-building in the Great Lakes region of Africa, mainly in Burundi and Rwanda. It has since launched the international Women Building Peace Campaign which undertakes policy research and advocacy focusing on women, peace, security issues within the international community.

#### **Swiss Peace Foundation**

The Bern-based Swiss Peace Foundation (SPF) is an action oriented peace research institute active both nationally and internationally. Since it's founding in 1988, it has developed into an internationally renowned institute for peace and conflict research and is part of a national and international network. The Swiss Peace Foundation deals with the prevention and management of armed conflicts. In view of the current widespread wars and violent conflicts in the world, the Foundation focuses on the establishment and further development of viable structures to resolve conflicts peacefully. The goal of its scientific and practical activities is a general and lasting reduction in organised violence between and within states. The Swiss Peace Foundation also sees itself as a forum permitting on-going discussion within the public and within administrative, scientific and political circles about questions of peace and security policy. With its analyses and reports and its regular publications and events, the Foundation contributes to the development of informed political opinion on questions relating to peace and security policy.

#### GENDER AND CONFLICT EARLY WARNING: A FRAMEWORK FOR ACTION

**Susanne Schmeidl** 

with

Eugenia Piza-Lopez

**June 2002** 

#### **ABOUT THE AUTHORS**

#### Susanne Schmeidl

Susanne Schmeidl is coordinator of the Afghan Civil Society Forum and senior research analyst for the FAST early warning unit at Swisspeace where she is responsible for special projects such as developing conflict early warning and response mechanisms for the Inter-Governmental Authority on Development (IGAD) in the Horn of Africa. Dr. Schmeidl received her M.A. and Ph.D. in sociology from Ohio State University (1989 and 1995) and worked at the Centre for Refugee Studies (York University, Canada) as a postdoctoral researcher (1995-1996) and coordinator of the Prevention/Early Warning Unit (1996-1997). She was also coordinator of the interim secretariat of the Forum on Early Warning and Early Response (1996-1997) and consulted for the food and statistics unit of the UNITED NATIONS High Commissioner for Refugees (1997). She has published in the areas of refugee migration and conflict early warning, including an edited volume with Howard Adelman Early Warning and Early Response (Columbia International Affairs Online, 1998) and Cirû Mwaûra Early Warning and Conflict Management in the Horn of Africa (Red Sea Press, 2002).

#### Eugenia Piza-Lopez

Eugenia Piza-Lopez, is currently Head of the Policy and Advocacy Department of International Alert, with responsibility for programmes related to peace building issues covering development aid, small arms, gender, security sector reform and the European Union. She joined International Alert in 1996 from Oxfam-UK, where she had been the Co-ordinator for the Programme Towards the Fourth World Conference on Women and, previously, the Gender Team Leader. She is also a member of the World Bank's High Level Working Group on Gender. In addition she was previously Manager, and is now Senior Advisor to the Forum for Early Warning and Early Response (FEWER) and to Human Rights Watch's Arms Programme. She has also written extensively on gender, small arms, peace and security issues. She has an honours degree in social communications from the University of London, and a masters degree in mass communications, from the University of Leicester, UK, and has worked as a journalist and a film producer, working in current affairs, for a national newspaper and television production company in Costa Rica.

#### Acknowledgements

This paper was initiated by Eugenia Piza-Lopez at International Alert and benefited from initial research by Carolyn Stephenson at the University of Hawaii. Susanne Schmeidl was later invited to become lead author in the development of this framework. Since then Eugenia Piza-Lopez has continued to provide substantive input.

The paper has benefited from three consultations with women's organisations, gender experts, early warning practitioners and others organised by the Swiss Peace Foundation, International Alert and the Forum on Early Warning and Early Response (FEWER) during the past year.

- First Expert Consultation on Gender and Early Warning with women's organisations, grassroots activists, and international and UNITED NATIONS organisations in Nairobi, Kenya in May 7, 2001 (also hosted by Africa Peace Forum).
- Second Expert Consultation on Gender and Early Warning with Swiss government officials, non-governmental organisations, international and UNITED NATIONS organisations, in Berne, Switzerland on June 14, 2001.
- Third Expert Consultative Meeting on Gender and Early Warning with nongovernmental organisations, academics, women's networks, UNITED NATIONS agencies and British government officials in London, UK on February 11, 2002.

The authors would also like to thank Sarah Crozier for her editorial work, and acknowledge valuable comments made by the following researchers and practitioners: Anne Tickner, International Relations, University of Southern California, USA; Howard Adelman, Centre for Refugee Studies, York University, Canada; Hayward Alker, International Relations, University of Southern California, USA; Edward Crenshaw, Sociology, The Ohio State University, USA; Chrystel Ferret and Esther Schaufelberger, Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation; Joshua Goldstein, International Relations, American University, USA; Maren Haartje and Thania Paffenholz Swiss Peace Foundation; Sanam Naraghi-Anderlini, Women Waging Peace, USA; Women Building Peace Campaign Team, International Alert, UK; Ute Kollies-Cumming, UNOCHA, Geneva; Angela Raven-Roberts, Tufts University, USA; Annemiek Richters, Leiden University, The Netherlands; Alex P. Schmid, Office for the Prevention of International Terrorism, United Nations and participants of the following workshops:

- Hommes armés, Femmes aguerries, Workshop at the Institut universitaire d'études du développement in Geneva, Switzerland, on January 23-24, 2001.
- Presentation at the Mershon Center for International Security, in the Speaker Series
  of the Women in International Development Group, at The Ohio State University,
  Columbus, Ohio, USA on March 1, 2001.
- Mainstreaming Gender in IGAD Peace Building and Conflict: Resolution Programmes, organised by IGAD and UNIFEM in Khartoum, Sudan on October 15-16, 2001.

#### **Table of Contents**

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
INTRODUCTION
PART I. DEFINITIONS AND CLARIFICATIONS
CONFLICT EARLY WARNING AND EARLY RESPONSE
GENDER AND GENDER MAINSTREAMING
PART II. EARLY WARNING AND GENDER
ENGENDERING THE COLLECTION OF INFORMATION
ENGENDERING THE ANALYTICAL PROCESS OF EARLY WARNING
GENDER-SENSITIVE EARLY WARNING INDICATORS
ROOT OR STRUCTURAL/SYSTEMIC CAUSES
PROXIMATE CAUSESI
INTERVENING FACTORSI
GENDER AND EARLY RESPONSE
CONCLUSION2
RESEARCH2
MAINSTREAMING2
APPENDIX I: GENDER-SENSITIVE EARLY WARNING INDICATORS2
APPENDIX II: ENGENDERING EARLY WARNING THROUGH THE
INCLUSION OF WOMEN2
APPENDIX III: ATTEMPT AT LINKING GENDER-SENSITIVE INDICATORS
(ROOT, PROXIMATE) TO ADEQUATE RESPONSE OPTIONS2
APPENDIX IV: PARTICIPANTS AT EXPERT
CONSULTATIVE MEETINGS3
ENDNOTES3
WORKS CITED

#### **Executive Summary**

The deliberate victimisation of women during recent wars has focused attention on the different impacts of internal and transnational conflicts on men and women. At the same time, the contribution of women and women's organisations to conflict resolution, management and peace building is also gaining wider recognition.

Parallel to this, early warning systems are playing an ever more crucial role in the international arena, in identifying areas at risk of violent conflict. The development of their multi-method approaches has brought early warning analysis closer to anticipating rather than predicting crises that could lead to large-scale humanitarian disasters. Such analysis now increasingly concentrates on the grassroots level, working with major stakeholders and cooperating with local partners.

In spite of these developments, gender remains largely absent in the pre-conflict context and early warning exercises, including the development of response options. In response, this paper presents an initial framework on how to 'engender' early warning. More specifically, the process, and benefits can be understood as follows:

- I. Incorporating gender-sensitive indicators into information collection and subsequent analysis allows for previously overlooked signs of instability to be taken into account and concentrates early warning at a grassroots level, anticipating conflict before it spreads to high politics.
- Incorporating gender analysis and perspectives into the formulation of response
  options ensures discriminatory policies are not perpetuated in post-conflict
  situations, or new found freedoms reversed. It also ensures that responses at a
  political and humanitarian level address the vulnerabilities specific to women and
  men.

These proposals aim to make early warning more comprehensive, 'earlier,' and preventive actions more effective and permanent. As more comprehensive and quality early warning that include gender analysis increase the likelihood of political will, engendering early warning has far-reaching benefits that go beyond the protection of vulnerable groups.

The paper also proposes a list of gender-sensitive early warning indicators for the purpose of verification and expansion. It concludes with a set of recommendations for future research and action, with particular emphasis on conducting empirical tests on the assumptions put forth.

#### Introduction

The end of the Cold War brought several changes to the international system that gave early warning and gender issues more visibility. Serious considerations for early warning were made possible due to the resolution of previous deadlock situations between powers in the East and West - exemplified best in the United Nations Security Council. The shift from international to largely internal conflicts, however, made conflict prevention efforts linked to military intervention difficult, as they challenged state sovereignty.

However, the attacks of 11th September may challenge this, as they demonstrate that disasters emanating from the failure to address root causes of conflict early on are more likely to push early warning into the consciousness of policy makers than the modest successes of conflict prevention, such as in Macedonia in 1992.

The heightened visibility of protracted internal conflicts, as well as an increase in media and NGO attention, has brought the horrible truths of war much closer to home. In particular, the deliberate use of rape, sexual assault and other forms of gender-based violence in Somalia, Bosnia and Rwanda have focused attention on the differential impacts of internal and transnational conflicts on men and women. These atrocities were a wake-up call to governmental and international decision-makers, non-governmental activists, and researchers for the need to better understand gendered forms of violence. The world has also begun to notice that women are not solely victims of war, but also make tremendous contributions to conflict resolution, management and peace building processes. Again, the conflict in Afghanistan, and the extent of the oppression of women by the Taliban, may have been key in pushing the importance of involving women in peace building and conflict resolution strategies.

Until recently, a gender perspective was largely absent from conflict analyses, postconflict reconstruction and reconciliation processes and is completely lacking from conflict early warning and preventive response systems1. The limited and speculative research findings that exist in this latter area (Fein 1992, Schmeidl 1999) suggest that the modelling and analysis of conflict early warning practices would be improved if gender-based perspectives were included. A gender-sensitive focus may enrich our understanding of factors that lead up to armed conflict and thus improve our early analysis and the formulation of response options. The process of engendering early warning<sup>2</sup> - and by this we mean integrating a gender perspective into all the stages of early warning, at all levels and not confining gender issues to a single process – ensures that the concerns of men and women are equally considered, to benefit men as well as women. At the same time, it improves existing approaches of information collection, analysis, and response formulation. In sum, the integration of gender into current early warning practices would lead to more practical, accurate and realistic approaches. While becoming more comprehensive, they could also become more effective by providing both truly early warning, and in offering a wider range of response options to addressing violent conflict.

The paper is divided into two, concluding with the identification of gaps in the framework presented, areas for further research and recommendations for policy. Part I offers a brief overview of the definitions, processes and development of conflict early

warning, and clarifies the issues surrounding the use of the terms gender and gender mainstreaming. Part II examines the links that can be made between gender and early warning and identifies areas where the integration of a gender perspective can improve existing models. While the main focus is on how to engender early warning, the importance of including women and women's organisations into the entire process is also addressed.

#### **Conflict Early Warning and Early Response**

Early warning systems were first used for the purposes of predicting natural disasters and stock market crashes. In the 1980s, with the introduction of models to predict famine and potential refugee flow, early warning was first introduced into humanitarian affairs3. This 'early warning' was primarily to alert relief agencies of impending humanitarian crises to allow for contingency planning and ensure the timely provision of adequate food, shelter and medication.

In light of the immense human suffering as a result of violent conflicts and due to costly post-conflict emergency requirements, humanitarian early warning in recent years has developed knowledge-based models to help decision-makers formulate coherent political strategies to prevent or limit the destructive effects of violent conflicts (FAST 2000). The emphasis is less on forecasting, but rather on anticipating the potential for crisis.

Extensive literature in this field has provided a range of definitions for early warning, with a number of common elements4:

#### **Components of Early Warning**

- Collection of information using specific indicators.
- · Analysis of information attaching meaning to indicators, setting it into context, recognising crisis development.
- Formulation of best and worst case scenarios and response options.
- Communication to decision-makers.

The principles of early warning and the associated focus on conflict prevention can also be applied after conflict has erupted - concentrating on conflict-containment, minimising human suffering and avoiding spillover conflict - as well as in post-conflict phases, focusing on preventing the resurgence of conflict (Lund 1996, FEWER 1999, Schmeidl 2001). What separates early warning from peace building and conflict mitigation is its implied proactive and not reactive character, with a focus on early rather than late action. It is argued that engendering early warning will improve conflict prevention.5

#### **Gender and Gender Mainstreaming**

The term gender, has since the 1970s been an important analytical concept used to explain the different learned identities associated with masculinity and femininity. It focuses on the socially constructed as opposed to biologically determined sex identities of men and women in societies.

#### It is important to note that gender and gender roles:

- Are ascribed to men and women in early socialisation and reflect the myths, assumptions, expectations and obligations connected to each biological sex.<sup>6</sup>
- · Are specific to a given culture in a given time and can thus change.
- Are affected by other forms of differentiation such as race, ethnicity and class.
- Can alter in different political, social and economic contexts within any given society.
- Help us understand the use and share of power and division of labour between men and women, and can define relationships between the sexes.
- Cut across public and private spheres and are institutionalised at various levels family, community, society and state.

Gender by definition refers to both men and women. The goal of engendering society or politics is not a reversal of discrimination or an attempt to make men and women similar, but a means to attain equity through equal opportunities and life chances (Woroniuk 1999). As long as men and women can make their own choices and have equal opportunities and access to resources and power, gender equality can vary according to culture and society.

Nevertheless, 'as traditionally, men have had a stronger position than women in societies around the world, the values and norms in society have been shaped accordingly' (Kvinna till Kvinna 2001, p.6).<sup>7</sup> In other words, there is a male bias and gender roles so far still 'diminish women's socio-economic positions in most societies' (Tickner 1999, p.9). This makes 'equal treatment of women and men...insufficient as a strategy for gender equality' if there is no parallel shift in discriminatory attitudes that exist toward women (as well as men), and institutional practices and social relations that reinforce the lower status of women (Woroniuk 1999, p.2).

In light of the above, so far gender initiatives have tended to focus largely on women and their advancement in society, economics and politics. This has partially been practiced through positive discrimination in institutions to achieve a *gender balance*, attempting to address the degree to which women and men hold the full range of positions in governance and development. This has included the call for incorporating women into the bodies and organisations that work in politics and development, 'irrespective of the quality of their participation or their involvement in decision-making processes' (Karl 1995, p.1).

It became apparent that gender equity could not be achieved simply by increasing the number of women, particularly if they lacked access to leadership and decision-making, and if individuals (men or women) in high positions lacked gender-sensitivity. Thus, the focus shifted to a more quality-oriented view of women's participation and the strategy of gender mainstreaming. This strategy for achieving gender equality can be considered as going beyond the simple inclusion of women in institutional structures by focusing on an engendering of social, political and economic processes. More specifically, actions on two dimensions are emphasised:

#### **Aspects of Gender Mainstreaming**

Analysis/Evaluation: 'the process of assessing the implications for women and men of any planned action, including legislation, policies or programmes, in any area' (ECOSOC, Doc.E/1997/66).

#### Implementation:

- As 'a tool for making women's as well as men's concerns and experiences an
  integral dimension in the design, implementation, monitoring and evaluation of
  policies and programmes in all political, economic and societal spheres so that
  women and men benefit equally, and inequality is not perpetuated (ECOSOC,
  Doc.E/1997/66)
- 'The reorganisation, improvement, development and evaluation of policy processes, so that a gender equality perspective is incorporated in all policies at all levels and at all stages, by the actors normally involved in policy making' (Council of Europe 1998, pp.7-8).

It is this mainstreaming approach we are concerned with. Thus, engendering early warning is not only concerned with including women into early warning systems, but on sensitising the entire process by training both men and women on how to use gender analysis to fine-tune early warning and allow for a more appropriate and diverse range of response options.

#### Part II Early Warning and Gender

A number of lessons have been learned in the practice of early warning from past failures. One was the realisation of the importance of including micro-level factors which lead to violence as opposed to solely focusing on state-based structures and relations. A second was that early warning researchers were working too much in isolation from political decision-making processes and thus lacked sufficient understanding of response capabilities. Engendering early warning tries to improve upon these weaknesses in three interconnected ways:

#### Gender and Early Warning: Three Hypotheses<sup>10</sup>

- I. Incorporating gender-sensitive indicators into the collection and analysis processes of early warning makes existing models more comprehensive and allows for 'early' early warning by anticipating macro-level conflict through micro-level events.
- An incorporation of micro-level changes, and interactions between men and women, fine-tunes the formulation of political and humanitarian response, in order to address the specific vulnerabilities of men and women and ensure that discriminatory policies are not perpetuated in post-conflict situations.
- 3. Early warning and preventive activities can be made more effective by utilising the untapped potential of women, women's networks and women's organisations as actors for peace.

In light of the above, the rationale behind introducing gender into early warning rests on the argument that the use of a gender-lens enriches early warning analysis and allows for more appropriate response options equally benefiting men and women. The aim is not simply to draw attention to the plight of women and other vulnerable populations during conflict stages, but to enrich early warning in general. The three areas of consideration here, as entry points for engendering early warning are the collection of information, the analytical process of risk assessments, and the formulation of response options. These three areas are very much interconnected as good indicators are derived from a good analytical model, analysis is only as good as the information that flows into it, and response options in turn need to be informed by both timely information and correct analytical insight.

#### **Engendering the Collection of Information**

Extensive work within and outside academia, coupled with the information revolution through the Internet and electronic mail (e.g. ReliefWeb and the Integrated Regional Information Network (IRIN) of UNDHA/UNOCHA), has improved access to information. Nevertheless, availability of information does not necessarily make for sensible indicators, as they need to be derived from thorough analysis that identifies the complex interrelation of factors that may lead to the escalation of armed conflict.

One way of engendering the collection of information is to develop gender-sensitive early warning indicators and add them to existing indicator models. It is important to note however, that doing so will have implications not only for information collection and other methodological processes, but also for the practice of early warning. This is discussed in more detail later. A second aspect to engendering early warning is linked to the potential women hold in the collection and analysis of information.<sup>12</sup> If we are interested in indicators that measure change at the micro-level, we need to engage with individuals and organisations that function at the grassroots level of society, very often these are women and women's organisations.

#### **Engendering the Analytical Process of Early Warning**

Discourse over the best analytical method for early warning has culminated in an understanding that both quantitative and qualitative strategies are needed for adequate early warning analysis. Quantitative scholars agreed that more macro-level structural models were primarily useful for yielding risk assessments that can guide analysis while more micro-level approaches are invaluable in the actual monitoring process and anticipation of conflict (Gurr and Moore 1997, Schmeidl and Jenkins 1998a, Schmeidl 2001). Even though this discourse acknowledged the necessity of monitoring micro-level changes for their impact on macro-level armed conflict, it has so far neglected the role of gender and the actions of men and women as important micro-level components enriching early warning analysis.

It is in this area where a gender perspective can fine-tune early warning. Compared to traditional approaches, gender analysis elicits different questions about the causes and effects of conflict on different sectors within society, and their particular relationships and roles with each other. It also provides a better understanding of unequal social hierarchies (including gender hierarchies) inequality and oppression, which are often characteristics of societies that are prone to, or embroiled in conflict (Tickner 1999). This would make gender equity and equality as essential considerations in the building of sustainable peace and the reconstruction of democratic processes. Thus, engendering early warning may prompt analysts to ask new questions relating to the conditions of life among different classes, age groups, identity groups, and so forth at different levels of society. It follows that the inclusion and mainstreaming of these considerations into the agendas of relevant policy makers at an earlier stage may lead to a more integrated and comprehensive understanding of the realities on the ground. In turn this could lead to 'earlier' early warning and/or longer term perspectives that introduce conflict prevention into development planning (Leonhardt 2000).

As women within the field of peace and security 'are asking new questions about conflict...trying to expand conventional agendas' (Tickner 1999, p.10), involving women into the early warning process may also hold the added value of countering mind-blindness by challenging traditional analytical patterns and opening new avenues for formulating response options.<sup>13</sup>

#### Gender-Sensitive Early Warning Indicators<sup>14</sup>

A gender-sensitive indicator can be defined as 'an indicator that captures gender-related changes in society over time' (Beck 1999, quoting Johnson 1985). Thus, while statistics disaggregated by sex provide 'factual information about the status of women, a gender-sensitive indicator provides 'direct evidence of the status of women, relative to some agreed normative standard or explicit reference group [here men]' (Beck 1999). For example, to say that 60 percent of women in country X are literate is a gender statistic, but to say that 60% of women in country X are literate compared to 82% of men (or 80% of men compared to 50% of women were killed in battle) is a gender-sensitive indicator.

There are two ways of developing gender-sensitive early warning indicators.<sup>15</sup> As sex and gender tend to be highly correlated, sex can be a good indicator of gender for many research purposes, and therefore we can use or build upon sex-disaggregated statistics.<sup>16</sup> However, the collection of sex-disaggregated data alone is not sufficient. It is essential to know why and for what purpose a particular indicator is needed and how it can improve early warning processes. This calls for theoretical grounding and the development of new indicators. The 1994 edition of the UNDP Human Development Report, offering the Human Development Index (HDI) adjusted by gender-disparity for 43 countries for the first time,<sup>17</sup> marks a first step in this direction. It was not until the 1995 edition, however, that two significant new indicators assessing women's access to resources and their overall status and power in the society were introduced for 130 and 116 countries respectively:

- The Gender-related Development Index (GDI) adjusts the HDI downwards for countries with a poor record in gender equality, making 'the average achievement of each country in life expectancy, educational attainment and income in accordance with the degree of disparity in achievement between men and women' (UNDP 1995, p.130).
- The Gender Empowerment Measure (GEM) uses 'variables constructed explicitly to measure the relative empowerment of men and women in political and economic spheres of activity'. This examines whether women and men are able to participate in economic and political life and take part in decision-making (UNDP 1995, p.132). 18

Existing literature on early warning offers a variety of different types of indicators ranging from long- to short-term and focusing on background, proximate, facilitating and triggering factors. While the search for a set of key indicators upon which all conflict escalation processes could be monitored has largely been abandoned, there is growing consensus that structuring information around groups of 'family' indicators is beneficial. For the purpose of this paper we draw on the traditional categories of early warning models that were strongly influenced in the 1980s by Clark (1989) and the Refugee Policy Group (1983), who pioneered the early warning of population displacement.<sup>19</sup>

Given that little work has been done in this area, the following sections rest upon

previous research and evidence from a limited number of cases (sometimes only one), but mainly on theoretical assumptions. The indicators presented should be considered preliminary suggestions to be further developed, added to and tested empirically. Due to space considerations only the main indicator groups are discussed, with Appendix I providing a more comprehensive (though not exhaustive) list of suggestions. For the purpose of early warning, all underlying – not just gendered – causes of expressed violence, frustration, and demographic and behavioural changes must also be understood. Thus, gender-based indicators are most beneficial when they are used in conjunction with wider socio-political analyses.

#### **Root or Structural/Systemic Causes**

Root or systemic causes refer to general structural and deep-rooted background conditions. According to Clark (1989), they are underlying events and conditions that have existed for many years and are mostly static or only change slowly over time. They tend to be embedded in historical/cultural contexts e.g. religious conflicts, long-standing border disputes, difficulty in state building, poverty/economic exclusion or ecological degradation. Root causes are thus necessary but not sufficient causes of armed conflict. They can be instrumentalised by political actors and are generally used to assess the risk potential of a country.

For the purpose of engendering root causes, a basic hypothesis is that the more inclusive a society is, the less likely it will resort to force as a means of conflict resolution. Limited research suggests that cultures which limit women's access to resources (economic, political, social) and decision-making power, and which characterise women as inferior to men, treat women as property and accept domestic violence as a norm, are more prone to repression and violent conflict in the public arena. In these cultures, men who do not fall within the traditional masculine ideal of strength and domination also tend to suffer and might become outcast. For example, in order 'to help overcome soldiers' reluctance to fight, cultures develop gender roles that equate 'manhood' with toughness under fire. Across cultures and through time, the selection of men as potential combatants (and of women for feminine war support roles) has helped shape the war system. In turn, the pervasiveness of war in history has influenced gender profoundly - especially gender norms in child rearing' (Goldstein 2001, p.13, see also Enloe 1993). Given that women are often seen as bearers of culture, which men have to defend, attacks on women may function as a proxy to attacking the culture of an entire society (Byrne 1995).

Exclusion and discrimination, however, need not be limited to social and cultural structures; they can also occur in an economic sphere. The exclusion of groups low in status from important resources, for example, could be considered a further indicator of a deteriorating societal situation that can lead to conflict in the future.

There are very few studies that empirically support these assumptions and in most cases only for proneness to inter-state conflict. As the proportion of countries with a large enough participation of women in political life is still small, <sup>20</sup> some of the findings need to be considered with caution until in-depth studies based on more specific indicators can be

conducted. It is also important to re-emphasise that root causes are only necessary, but not sufficient factors that may lead to armed conflict. They cannot be used in isolation from other indicators, as many countries lacking gender equity are not at risk of conflict.

#### **Gender-Sensitive Root Causes**

- 1. Political equality: Research suggests that states with lower percentages of women in parliament are more likely to use military violence to settle disputes (Caprioli 2000). A 5 per cent decrease in the proportion of women in parliament renders a state nearly five (4.91) times as likely to resolve international disputes using military violence (p.61).21 Female suffrage is also a significant predictor of state bellicosity. 'Given two states, for example, the state having twice the number of years of female suffrage will be nearly five (4.94) times as likely to resolve international disputes without military violence' (Caprioli 2000, p.61). Switzerland, with late female suffrage, but also a warless contemporary history, is an exception.
- 2. Economic equality: The level of women's participation in the labour force can be interpreted as the extent to which women are integrated into the public sphere and other forms of participation such as voting or political activism. 'The percentage of women in the labour force showed statistical significance in explaining state bellicosity...Increasing the proportion of women in the labour force by 5 per cent for example, renders a state nearly five (4.95) times less likely to use military force to resolve international conflict' (Caprioli 2000, p.63). Variables of economic inclusion or exclusion, as well as resource distribution, could also be considered.
- 3. Social Equality: An overall measure of female fertility rate, suggests 'women's access to reproductive health services is constrained by their broader social deprivation, including the lack of resources for, or priority to their health, restrictions on social participation, and limited access to information due to illiteracy' (Caprioli 2000, p.57; see also Sadik 1997). Through multiple years of child bearing and child rearing, women are tied to the home, excluding them not just from the labour force, but also education and community or public decision-making processes (United Nations 1995). Thus, countries with a high fertility rate and lower gender equality are also more likely to engage in violence.<sup>22</sup> 'For example, decreasing the fertility rate by one-third makes a state nearly five (4.67) times less likely to use a military solution to settle international disputes' (Caprioli 2000, p.63). Marshall and Ramsey (1999), using the composite measure of Gender Empowerment, support these findings. Other research in related areas (Brumfield 1994, Erchak and Rosenfeld 1994, Levinson 1989 as cited in Caprioli 2000) suggests that 'societies with high levels of family violence are more likely to rely on violent conflict resolution and are more likely to be involved in wars compared to societies with lower levels of family violence' (Caprioli 2000, p.55).

#### **Proximate Causes**

Proximate causes reflect medium term conditions and emerging socio-political and economic trends. Together with root causes they can create the sufficient conditions for armed conflict. In the context of conflict early warning, much attention has been paid to trends in income disparity, patterns of political oppression and particularly human rights violations (Jongman 1990, Fein 1993, Schmid 1996, Schmeidl 1997). It is important to assess whether governments are able (and willing) to cope with unfavourable background conditions (e.g. a failure to introduce legislation that allows equal access to political and economic resources in an ethnically heterogeneous environment), or if there is an attempt to overcome gender imbalances (e.g. whether there is protection against human rights violations), or if there is a tendency to manipulate inequalities for political gain.

The indicators presented rest upon four basic and to some degree inter-related hypotheses:

- For a society to move into armed conflict, there will necessarily be a build-up of aggression, as killing and destruction require aggression, and in-group cohesion needs to be assured to provide unity against the enemy. Thus, aggressive behaviour at all levels, from domestic violence, bar-fights and vandalism, may be reinforced and rewarded.
- Violence against groups low in status (or allegations of such violence at the hands
  of the enemy or out-group) may become a deliberate way of achieving in-group
  cohesion. Especially in societies that have a strong honour-shame culture (or where
  women are equated with property) violent acts against women, such as rape, may be
  committed in order to punish, demoralise and symbolically defeat men.
- As armed conflict still tends to be largely masculine,<sup>23</sup> men are at risk of being targeted as combatants, forcibly recruited or being either killed or imprisoned purely on the basis of their gender to pre-empt opponents from building a strong resistance force (Jones 2000). Woroniuk (2001) argues that during nationalist propaganda 'gender-stereo-types and specific definitions of masculinity and femininity are often promoted' (p.64).

In light of the above, women, like other low status groups, or men not conforming to a hyper-masculine ideal, may be the first to experience the deterioration of human security levels that eventually culminates into a more widespread crisis, potentially foreshadowing armed conflict. If we accept this argument, then gender-sensitive early warning indicators and a gendered analysis are indispensable for more accurate early warning. Linked to this 'early detection advantage,' gender analysis can draw attention to deviating behavioural patterns and demographic trends, and therefore highlight dysfunctionalities that could be precursors to armed conflict. The sets of indicators discussed below further illustrate this.

#### Gender-specific human rights violations

The reduction in the status of women, discrimination against women (but also men who, for example, refuse to go to battle), media scapegoating, violations of women's human rights and virulent attacks on women, may be direct precursors of further repression and violent conflict. Kosovo is a good example of this. Like violence against property, violence against women, exemplified by an increase in the incidence of rape, as a form of mutual intimidation (Serbs vs. Kosovar Albanians and vice versa) was already on the rise in 1989. This lower level of conflict intensified in the following years. Men, in contrast to women, however, may be more vulnerable to getting into fights, being beaten up and experiencing other similar forms of harassment. This may well be part of an initiation culture for warriors that need to learn how to kill and view the enemy as sub-human. Thus, a general level of human rights violations, with different forms for men and women, is likely to be observed in a society with heightened levels of violence.

The fact that violations of the rights of women may not be noticed and thus missed as an early warning indicator, is linked to the fact that violence against women is often considered a private and not public affair, and therefore not politically related - even if performed systematically.<sup>24</sup> In effect it may be a more subtle form of rights violation that is tolerated, with wider public resistance only rising when violations spread to a more general level. It is this subtlety that makes the violation of women's human rights (and also that of minorities) an 'early' indicator for early warning.

#### Proximate indicators of gender-specific human rights violations

- Rape: Women and men are raped for different reasons, and women are more likely to be subject to this type of violence. Both are raped to humiliate the individual, but women are also raped to humiliate an entire culture. Women can be used to punish, shame and demoralise men and society, especially in shame and honour cultures.
- **Domestic Violence:** Rising aggression in society as it prepares for war might be expressed by aggression at a domestic level, experienced by women, but also children and both girls and boys. The rising level of domestic violence (or general tension) was observed in Ethiopia prior to the outbreak of war with Eritrea (Ludi 1999).
- Other forms of Violence: Bar fights, ganging up on men of out-groups or men not
  fulfilling the 'masculine' ideal of a combatant, verbal harassment, physical beating, persecution
  of men who refuse to take up arms, honour killings of women and the lack of institutional
  prosecution of perpetrators.
- Presence of military operations: Another factor that may increase the likelihood of
  conflict that could be measured through gender-sensitive indicators are military operations
  as they frequently result in an increase in prostitution, commercial sex trades and sexual
  harassment (Byrne 1996, Woroniuk 2001).

#### Abrupt changes in gender roles in society

This set of indicators is linked to human rights abuses and can help gauge the level of tolerance in society in general.<sup>25</sup> Tickner (1999) argues that unequal social hierarchies, including gender hierarchies, inequality and oppression are often characteristics of societies that are prone to, or embroiled in conflict. Afghanistan under the Taliban with its rigid interpretation of Sharia law is a good example.

Furthermore, when a shift in gender roles occurs in society from more open to more closed, this could be considered a warning signal of an overall move towards repression and conflictual behaviour. In Kyrgyzstan for example, it was observed that increasing restraints on women's roles and the decline in women's political participation throughout the former Soviet system was linked to a more general tightening of the political system (Schmeidl 1999). The tighter imposition of Sharia law in Pakistan and an increasing amount of honour killings could also be considered a precursor to the restrictive interpretation of laws and a shift towards a more general conservatism in society, threatening stability as it clashes with more secular currents.

Similarly, a society that needs male combatants may also begin to change male gender roles away from being caretakers of family towards being fighters. During such a transition, the male ethos of war may be brought out more clearly. Men may be measured more on their aggressiveness, ability to excel in violent activities, bodily strength etc., than other less violent economic, political and intellectual performances. This becomes most evident in the persecution of draft evaders or other forms of punishment for men showing unwillingness to fight.

#### Proximate indicators of abrupt changes in gender roles in society

- Move from open to closed societies.
- Imposition of restrictive laws, especially for women.
- Increasing restrictive interpretation of existing laws.
- Reward for aggressive behaviour.
- · Propaganda emphasising hyper-masculinity.

#### Deviation in behavioural trends or demographic patterns

Similar to increased levels of violence, preparation for war may also be expressed by increasing insecurity that may lead to fewer social gatherings or other shifts in behaviour. In addition, changes may be observed in demographic trends, which can be measured in comparison to the existing norm. Thus, demographic 'oddities' such as refugee populations comprising mainly of women and children, should only spark our interest if the composition does not reflect that of the country in general.

#### Proximate indicators of deviation in behavioural trends or demographic patterns

- Sex-specific Refugee Migration: Examination of refugee flows by gender may not only help to prepare better responses but also better prediction and anticipation. Linking gender and age can define three basic waves of refugee movements (Ferris 1987). The first waves of refugees are political exiles or anticipatory refugees (Kunz 1973). Politically active, they flee at an early point in time, foreseeing political turbulence. The second wave consists of urban dwellers, who flee after the initial outbreak of violence. The third wave of refugees is a mass movement, composed of people caught in the cross-fire of rapidly unfolding political violence that flee much later in the conflict. They are the victims of violence with little involvement in the initial conflict. While the first two types of refugees tend to be educated middle-class males, the third tend to be not formally educated women and children (Ferris 1987, d'Adesky 1991). In a different situation it was observed that between March and April 1992 women (especially of Muslim origin) left Priador (Bosnia and Herzegovina) by the bus load. This was actually 6-8 weeks before the situation deteriorated. Muslims described this as protecting their families from danger, Serbs as clearing the decks to prepare for all-out conflict (Last 1997). In cases where refugee populations are mostly male, they tend to be refugee warrior forces or militants in exile (Schmeidl and Popatia 1997). While it may not be fully clear if one has to look for all male or all female migration, sex-disaggregated analysis of the fleeing groups can provide a more accurate picture of the state of events and be an effective early warning signal to conflict escalation.
- Gender-specific killing 'gendercide' and disappearances: As men are primarily combatants, it is possible that they may be either killed or imprisoned purely on the basis of their gender. This was observed in Cambodia (Heuveline 2001) but also in Kosovo (Jones 2000). Similarly, it is possible that pregnant women are targeted for execution in an attempt to extinguish a culture, while non-pregnant women might be forcibly impregnated, as another form of diluting a culture, or introducing the genes of another culture.
- Sex-specific unemployment: Recent studies suggest that a youth bulge and particularly a large percentage of unemployed young men are an indicator of potential instability. In Kyrgyzstan, for example, nearly 40 per cent of the population is below thirty years of age and 54 per cent live below the poverty line, thereby increasing the chance of them entering into the illegal drugs and arms trades, and other criminal activities to make a living (Schmeidl 1999). Huntington (1999) also argues that 'the increasing number of men aged 16 to 30 in many Muslim countries feeds the ranks of militants and fighters. Indeed, these young men are the primary soldiers in the Muslim international brigade whose members fought in Afghanistan, Bosnia, Kosovo, the Philippines, Chechnya and elsewhere' (The New York Times, December 16, 1999).

#### Changes in economic pattern

War usually comes at a cost, as money is needed for arms and combatants. This may lead to an increase in prices or new taxation laws. However, it is also possible that other

venues for money-making are used, such as women selling their jewellry to support war (e.g. in the case of Palestine). In societies where women's own security and wealth is often based on their possession of gold and other precious materials, the sale of such items is an important indication of the level of desperation and need. Although there are no systematic studies of women's economic activities in the run-up to conflict, it is an area worth further exploration, as is tracking financial flight within a country to protect capital, or an increase in remissions being sent in externally to support war.

#### Proximate indicators of changes in economic pattern

- Sale of jewellry or other precious materials.
- Increase of remission from outside being sent home.
- Hoarding of goods.

#### **Intervening Factors**

Intervening factors, sometimes also called accelerators (Harff 1998, Ahmed and Kassinis 1998), can either increase or decrease the likelihood of armed conflict - or peace building in the event that there is already an armed conflict in progress.<sup>26</sup> Intervening factors can also be grouped in the following ways:

- Obstacles to conflict prevention or peace building.
- External or internal influences that either fuel conflict or aid conflict resolution.
- Alternatives to conflict or coping strategies (not necessarily governmental, but also from civil society) on dealing with transition difficulties.

It is crucial to consider organisations working to diminish violence, which include the grassroots level where women and women's organisations are active. It is also essential to consider coping strategies that might be unique to men or women that can assist in decreasing conflict.

Intervening factors are also extremely important in identifying triggering events as well as for formulating policy options and mobilising effective response. They might provide the necessary information on entry points for external actors in supporting local initiatives trying to diminish violence or offering coping strategies and peaceful alternatives. Often these are performed by women's organisations, which are not visible without a micro-level focus. 'Women have often drawn moral authority from their role as mothers. It has also been possible for women to protest from their position as mother when other forms of protest have not been permitted by authorities' (Woroniuk 2001, p.64, see Mothers of the Disappeared organisations in Latin and South America and Women in Black in Yugoslavia).

The media may also play a role since the sudden exposure or reporting of events hitherto unknown can catalyse action. For example, reports about the mass rape of Muslim women in Bosnia heightened the violence in the Balkans. In turn, reports of the concentration camps and rape camps galvanised western public opinion, which in turn

contributed to action by western leaders.

Nevertheless, while doing this, one should not ignore spoilers of peace or those that benefit from violent conflict and therefore work to escalate it. Once again the media can play a critical role in fuelling public anger and triggering violent action. The portrayal of women in the media can be a key indicator, as violence is often expressed verbally, through propaganda. In Rwanda, as early as 1990, extremist Hutu press and radio began to target Tutsi women as seductresses ('femme libres'), spies, and a threat to Hutu society (Chretien 1995, Human Rights Watch 1996). Among other attacks on Tutsis, pornographic material depicting Tutsi women and Belgian forces appeared in December 1993, while moderate Hutus, and Hutus married to Tutsi women, were characterised as traitors (Human Rights Watch 1996). This scapegoating, coupled with the gradual dehumanisation of Tutsis, who were portrayed as cockroaches to be exterminated, set the stage for the genocidal campaign of 1994. We may also find similar media scapegoating of minority groups, or of men who are unwilling to take up arms. Thus, the media can be a good early warning indicator for a society that is gearing up for war and trying to create in- vs. out-groups.

As existing research and literature is specifically weak in this area, below are some suggestions. Future research needs to focus heavily on improving the list of intervening factors:

#### **Examples of Gender-sensitive Intervening Factors**

#### **Decreasing the Likelihood of Conflict**

- Existence of NGOs addressing the special needs of men and women.
- Existence of peace organisations, particularly women's peace movements and organisations.
- Existence of regional initiatives towards engaging and encouraging women in peace negotiations and peace activities.
- Existence of programs aimed at addressing gender issues in peace building programs and projects.
- · Gender-sensitive international assistance.
- Shared cultural customs and traditions of peaceful conflict resolution, especially at the local level.
- The long-term empowerment of women alongside an empowerment of communities.

#### **Increasing the Likelihood of Conflict**

- Media scapegoating of women.
- Engagement of women in shadow war economy (e.g. trafficking of women and prostitution).
- Resistance to women's participation in peace processes and peace negotiations on the part of guerrilla/armed groups, warlords and governments.
- Lack of presence of women in civil society organisations and lack of women's organisations.
- Short-term empowerment of women and communities.
- Growth of discriminatory movements such as fundamentalism.
- Insensitive (to gender, etc.) response by international actors.

#### Gender and Early Response<sup>27</sup>

Conflict produces changes in gender relations and offers options women may not have had before, especially as women are tasked with ensuring the survival of other family members. 'By necessity, war may become 'women's passport into the experience and world of men' (Segal 1987, p.171). This process often continues in post-conflict situations and leads to a renegotiation of gender relations, which could continue on a liberalisation trend, but often leads to a reversal of norms, with women losing new-gained freedom. Even worse, insensitive aid agencies may strip women of their traditional rights, allowing men to rule all aspects of life. A gender focus in response development can avoid this.

Early warning is often criticised for lacking coherent, consistent, adequate and complete response options (Schmeidl 2001, George and Holl 2000, Jentleson 2000). Thus, improving upon the analytical capacity that flows into early warning is just as crucial, if not even more so, than trying to anticipate correctly the escalation of violent armed conflict. Experts believe that this 'advisory' component of early warning which tells policy-makers how events may unfold and what actions could be taken, decreases the warning-response gap and political will problem, particularly if lack of political will is linked to not knowing what to do rather than not wanting to do anything. Therefore to truly engender early warning it is not enough simply to work with gender-sensitive indicators.<sup>28</sup> The ultimate challenge may be to link micro-level responses to the macro-picture of armed conflict.

Consistent with the section on information collection and analytical capacity, the advantages of engendering the formulation of case scenarios and response options are also twofold:

 The ability of gender-analysis to illuminate micro-level processes is not only beneficial for anticipating events early in the process of conflict escalation, but may also lead to more fine-tuned policy recommendations that focus on the community level rather than high politics. The inclusion of women in this process not only allows for equity by laying the
foundations for having both men and women's needs equally addressed, but also
invites a different set of views when deciding upon what response options might be
most suitable. This may lead to different policy prescriptions, perhaps with a less
militarised emphasis and more appropriate to groups at risk (Anderlini 2000,
Mazurana and McKay 1999).

In sum, gender-sensitive responses in the context of conflict early warning and response processes may lead to the use of a wider range of policy tools, including micro-level responses that take into account the needs of diverse groups at every stage of the conflict cycle. In addition, focusing on the micro-level automatically increases the likelihood of involving women and women's organisations. The inclusion of communities in early warning exercises increases the likelihood that women are given a voice - given that much of early warning and preventive action is still male dominated - and vice versa. Appendix II explores this inclusion in practice. Women have made remarkable contributions in many countries (e.g. Somalia, Yugoslavia, Liberia, the Middle East and other regions) in effectively bridging the conflict divide by using their own social networks and different approaches to communication, negotiation and mediation (Anderlini 2000, Brock-Utne 1989, Kolb and Coolidge 1988, Weingarten and Douvan 1985, Rubin and Brown 1975).<sup>29</sup> A recent UNITED NATIONS study on multi-dimensional peace support operations found that the presence of women improved:

- Access to the local population.
- The behaviour of male members of the mission.
- The effectiveness of the mission by increasing the range of skills, approaches and perspectives within the mission (UNITED NATIONS 2000, p.26).

#### **Engendering the Formulation of Case Scenarios and Response Development**

Micro-level analysis in pre-conflict settings, even though at times difficult for aid organisations used to working on a macro-level with governments, is important for the formulation of adequate response options that equally benefit men and women.<sup>30</sup> Gendersensitive analysis can shed light on how both men and women respond to crisis situations, how they cope, develop survival strategies, handle scarce resources and contribute to constructing a better society (Woroniuk 1999). Gender analysis not only helps focus on the vulnerabilities of specific population groups but also exposes the impact of changes in gender relations, which might either increase vulnerabilities or lead to empowerment. A micro-level focus also highlights the importance of addressing psychological trauma within society - in both men and women - and not merely reconstructing the political and economic system, as unresolved trauma risks a renewal of conflict as outlets for aggression are sought (e.g. the war between Ethiopian and Eritrea).

**Examples of how gender analysis could suggest different response options Afghanistan:** The Taliban phenomenon provides an excellent example of how gender analysis can refocus our understanding of conflict situations. The Taliban has mainly been analysed in the traditional male ethos of suppression, aggression, warmongering and violating women's rights rather than through a gender-lens looking into the impact of changes in gender-relations and trauma created by war, loss and long-term exile (see Schmeidl 2002a).

Without excusing their repressive methods and behaviour, the Taliban could be understood in terms of their up-bringing in broken families, exaggerated male-female separation in refugee camps, long-term exile (most were born in refugee camps), and above all an early socialisation in madrassas isolated from women. It has also been alleged that boys are subject to physical and sexual abuse in these religious schools. These factors may explain Taliban behaviour, particularly their treatment of women, more than their interpretation of Islam. A different understanding could have suggested alternative response options in the protracted war situation in Afghanistan, which would perhaps have favoured engagement and political education over isolation, and finally, removal by force.

Georgia-Abkhazia: During the build up to the conflict of 1991 a group of women academics mounted a conflict prevention campaign, galvanising women across the region and addressing issues of gender equality in the context of peace and security. They joined a peace train that travelled across the border and gained media attention. However, as they lacked both official political backing within Georgia and international support, they were unable to mitigate the march towards violence (Anderlini 2000). If, however, a major international body such as the Organisation for Security and Cooperation in Europe (OSCE), had been aware of these activities, it could have used this platform created by the women to pressure local government. Thus, if gender sensitivity existed within response formulation it is more likely that responding agencies would look for, and draw upon local prevention initiatives developed by women.

Without gender analysis old pre-conflict norms may be inadvertently perpetuated and render women even more vulnerable by stripping them of new-gained freedoms.<sup>31</sup> In such a scenario, traditional tasks may be taken away from women and thus hamper their empowerment. This may be best illustrated by food distribution systems in refugee camps. Research has found that by arbitrarily assigning men to certain tasks considered important, refugee camps often distort existing systems of division of labour among men and women (Callamard 1993). For example, food production is often considered a reproductive task and thus falls under the work of women. But in refugee camps, men generally perform the task of redistributing food, as the largely male relief workers tend to assign them this work. The effect is three-fold: first, the supplies are often siphoned off and used in exchange for weapons or profit; second, women's subordination to men increases (Motsisi 1993); and third, women may be overlooked completely and go empty-handed (Marshall 1995).

If women, like men, were allowed to 'govern' their own space for the production and redistribution of food, if they were consulted in the design of camp layouts, and included in their daily management, many of these sorts of problems could be avoided.<sup>32</sup> This would benefit women physically by making them less vulnerable, but it would also empower them. Gender-sensitive analysis would have revealed that aid given to women has a greater likelihood to reach families and to build a strong subsistence base.

#### **Examples of considerations for gender-sensitive response**

**Food Distribution.** Female single-heads of household in Afghan refugee camps were overlooked in the food-distribution process as male-female interaction (except among relatives) is prohibited in traditional Islamic and Pashtun culture. An aid-worked explained: 'Had the group [of women] stood out in some way - visually or physically, because of their ethnic background, or a religious difference, or whatever - we would have made sure they got food... But because they were women, it didn't even occur to me, I have to admit - to my shame' (Marshall 1995, p.3).

**Camp layout.** The physical layout of a refugee camp can play an important role in the security of refugee women. For example, many of the latrines are built side-by-side for both women and men. But women have preferred to risk attack in the forest rather than use these closely confined latrines. In other instances, women are forced to forage outside the camp for firewood with no protection from bandits and the militia, placing themselves in situations of possible rape and assault (Marshall 1995).

**Security.** Most peace support operations tend to be male dominated, if women are not completely absent. In these situations, the security of women is put second to securing territory. Often the incidence of rape, trafficking of women and prostitution increases when operations are not planned with a gender-sensitive focus.

**Education.** The knowledge that militant groups, such as in Pakistan or Afghanistan, are trained by madrassas thriving on a poor public educational system (rather than allegiance to Islam) could lead to the recommendation to support a public school system or overall educational reforms.

**Employment.** Understanding that unemployment of young men provides an open-recruitment base for militants could lead to a micro-level response to develop job creation or re-education schemes providing an alternative to taking up arms.

In light of the above, it is important to note that engendering the formulation of response options does not necessarily champion a sole focus on women. As the end of conflict is a period of transition where gender relations can change, it would be a mistake to exclude men and fail to address their vulnerabilities experienced due to changing gender relations. After all, mutual empowerment of men and women decreases backlash from frustrated men and thus better guarantees the security of both women and men. In sum, the

true meaning of gender analysis highlights that neither men nor women have to take a victim role but can become equal actors (Woroniuk 1999). Appendix III, far from inclusive, provides some additional suggestions on engendering response development.

#### Conclusion

This paper has argued that a gender-sensitive perspective helps us to further question and refine assumptions about conflict early warning and the implementation of proactive and effective responses. It was argued that the mainstreaming of gender improves the design and use of early warning systems.

#### Summary of Suggestions on Engendering Early Warning Collection of Information

- Developing gender-sensitive indicators to allow for 'earlier' early warning.
- Collecting gender-sensitive information through incorporating and consulting women and women's organisations.

#### Analysis and risk assessments

- Introducing gender analysis focuses on the micro-level and exposes realities on the ground, improving the anticipation of violent conflict escalation.
- Introducing gender analysis integrates micro- with meso- and macro-level considerations in producing risk assessments, case scenarios and response options.
- Including women in the analytical process adds new perspectives and avoids mind blindness.

#### Formulation of best and worst case scenarios and response options

- Integrating gender-sensitive response options addresses macro-, meso-, and micro-level concerns, as appropriate.
- Integrating the long-term efforts for peace and conflict resolution at micro-, meso-, and/or macro-levels as constitutive components of response options.

#### Communication to decision-makers

- Reaching a range of actors in institutions, including both those directly responsible for decision-making and those responsible for gender mainstreaming.
- Fine-tuning early warning response options and analysis to include women's groups and organisations.

The paper has also proposed a framework and a set of indicators, most of which, however, remain untested. In order to prove the utility of gender-sensitive indicators and the associated hypothesis that they provide earlier early warning than indicators that are not gender-sensitive, empirical research is needed. Once indicators are tested and accredited, it will be far easier to integrate them into early warning systems, slowly beginning an

engendering of the entire process that may alter traditional frameworks and methods of early warning altogether (see also Appendix II).

Finally, while the overall framework focuses on truly engendering early warning by working with men and women alike, the fact that early warning and conflict prevention is still largely male-dominated (and therefore has a male-bias) led to the second argument of the importance of increasing the numbers of women in agencies working in the field of early warning and conflict prevention, particularly at decision-making levels.<sup>33</sup> This process of positive discrimination is necessary in order to speed up gender mainstreaming and to integrate the different perspectives women can bring.<sup>34</sup>

It is thus important to work on committing the responding institutions to mainstreaming gender into their operations, to ensure that preventive mechanisms are gender-sensitive and work on achieving gender balance. They should aim to eliminate existing inequalities and build a critical mass of women who could affect and influence structural processes. They could develop working relationships between governments, large intergovernmental organisations, and more decentralised organisations such as NGOs and local networks, including women's organisations. They could also develop effective systems that proactively draw on micro-level, grassroots efforts involving the larger population, rather than top-down approaches that tend to focus solely on high politics.

It is also essential to note that so long as stereotyping on the basis of gender exists, simply pushing women into politics will not make for better early warning. Ultimately, meaningful contributions to conflict prevention through gender mainstreaming can only be achieved if convincing evidence of the benefits of equality between the sexes is demonstrated.

#### Recommendations

#### Research

The proposed framework and the assumptions regarding the use of gender as a tool to enhance early warning systems requires further research, consultation and testing to develop better indicators and response options. Particular attention is needed in the following areas:

#### a) Research the comparative advantage of gender-sensitive early warning models

- Further test the relationship between gender and conflict, and gender and violence, including the consideration of definitions of violence in different cultural contexts, so that early warning models can reflect local realities.
- Demonstrate, through research, the comparative advantages of gender-sensitive early
  warning systems with traditional early warning systems by analysing and questioning
  the processes by which information is collected, analysed and response options
  formulated. Lessons can be learned from existing early warning systems, which
  already incorporate civil society perspectives and are flexible enough to adapt to
  changes (e.g. FEWER, FAST, EAWARN and others).
- Research and consult humanitarian and early warning practitioners to gather their views on the relative merits of integrating gender into early warning and their recommendations on how gender can be mainstreamed.

#### b) Research indicators

- Provide case studies to test the validity of gender-sensitive indicators.
- Build upon the list of indicators using insights gained from case studies and ensure that generic indicators can be adapted to different conflicts and contexts.

#### c) Research response options

- Further explore the impact of gender-sensitive considerations and women's perspectives on response options.
- Assess the capacity of key actors to act upon gender-sensitive response options to maximise the function of early warning systems.
- Analyse how the media can be used positively and effectively for early warning and conflict prevention, avoiding potential media-scapegoating of women and perpetuation of a masculine war culture.

#### **Mainstreaming**

#### a) Indicators

 Consult women and women's organisation on how they can participate in early warning systems, particularly in the development of indicators, provision of data and development of response options.

#### b) Involving key stakeholders

 Consult gender experts in key institutions (OSCE, UNDPA, OCHA, UNITED NATIONS agencies, EU Policy Planning and Early Warning Unit, FEWER and other

- NGOs) to promote the mainstreaming of gender-sensitive early warning as a constructive and essential component of gender mainstreaming.
- Work with early warning focal points at the UNITED NATIONS and other intergovernmental, governmental and non-governmental organisations to engage them in debate around improving the effectiveness of early warning systems on an ongoing basis.
- Support the development of regional early warning systems that through their
  proximity to the grass-roots level increases the likelihood of involving women and
  women's organisations into the process. However, dependency on external systems
  needs to be avoided by linking these regional systems to networks based elsewhere
  to verify and analyse information.

#### c) Staffing

 Create and promote a roster of gender-sensitive experts that can inform the debate around early warning.

#### d) Decision-making

• Involve gender-sensitive personnel in the design, implementation and management of early warning systems at local, national, regional and international levels.

#### f) Procedures

- Develop the outcomes of research and consultations into operational guidelines for practitioners.
- Create mechanisms for the rapid availability of resources to women's organisations as means for effective response.

#### g) Training

 Provide gender-sensitive early warning training to actors engaged in early warning systems and processes, including data gathering, analysis, response options and response.

## **ROOT (SYSTEMIC) CAUSES**

nclusive a society, the less likely it is to The assumption here is that the more resort to force as means of conflict resolution.

## Political/Institutional

- Percentage of women in parliament
- Female suffrage (Year)
- Gender Empowerment Measure
- (GEM)
- Signatory to UNITED NATIONS
- Elimination of Convention on the all forms of
  - Discrimination against Women (CEDAW)

## **Economic Equality**

- Percentage of women in labour force
- Gender-related Development Index
- Percentage of women in work sector (agriculture, industry, service)

Abrupt changes in women's roles in society (open to more restrictive)

Media scapegoating of women

age)

Sex-specific unemployed (esp. of

Number of single female-headed

households

young men, youth bulge)

Incidences of Domestic Violence

Change in customs or behavior

Population policies

Sex-specific labour migration

Economic

Sale of valuables (e.g. gold)

particularly of men in combatant

Sex-specific forced displacement

(either male or female only) Sex-specific mortality rates

Societal / Socio-Demographic

## Societal / Socio-Demographic

- Female fertility rate
- Maternal mortality rate
- Gender ration at birth (preference of boys)
- Infant (and Child Mortality) of girls
  - Female literacy rate
- Average Level of Female education
  - Average number of children per household
- Contraceptive Use by women

### Cultural

- Honour-Shame Culture
- Perception of women as property
- Cultural Practices restricting women
  - Practice of Female Genital Mutilation (etc.)

# **DECREASING THE LIKELIHOOD OF CONFLICT**

S

~

0

**⊢** 

ΕÞ

U

# Existence of NGOs addressing special needs of men

and women

**Exclusionary or Discriminatory** 

Laws (e.g., Sharia, dress code,

property)

Violations of Women's Human

Political / Governance

PROXIMATE CAUSES

- Existence of peace organisations, particularly women's peace movements/organisations
- Existence of regional initiatives toward engaging women in peace negotiations and peace activities
  - Existence of programs aimed at addressing gender issues in peace building programs and porjects

~

 $\Sigma \sqcup \Omega$ 

Gender-sensitive international assistance

Trafficking of Women (Sex Trade)

Incidences of Rape

Security

Abductions

Abuse by security forces

- Shared cultural customs and traditions of peaceful conflict resolution (especially at the local level)
- Empowerment of women alongside an empowerment of communities (long term)



0

# **NCREASING THE LIKELIHOOD OF CONFLICT**

- Media-scapegoating of women
- Engagement of women in shadow war economy

U

- Resistance to women's participation in peace processes and peace negotiations on the part of guerrilla/armed groups, warlords and governments
- Empowerment of women and communities (short
- fundamentalism)
- Insensitive (gender etc.) responses by (international)

Z 4 J -

- (trafficking of women and prostitution)
- organisations and lack of women's organisations Lack of presence of women in civil society
- Growth of discriminatory movements (such as
- actors

### **APPENDIX II:** Engendering Early Warning Through the Inclusion of Women

While there may be alternatives, these suggestions use the steps of early warning analysis.

#### Step 1: Baseline Analysis

This can be done by an individual analyst, but can be enriched by holding a consultation with stakeholders (NGOs, civil society, local communities, grassroots etc.) in the concerned region in order to ensure:

- A comprehensive analysis sensitive to the region.
- Development of monitoring indicators that are gender-sensitive.
- Avoidance of mind-blindness by including several opinions.
- Building of a network to identify organisations that can assist in the monitoring and response process.

This should not be considered as a one-time event but a process to be regularly revisited to ensure that the analysis is dynamic and the indicators up-to-date.

#### Step 2: Collection of Information

In this process it is important to rely on multiple data sources (as many as possible) and build on existing structures in order to ensure:

- Cross-verification of information
- · All levels and all indicators are reached

Where information is sensitive or difficult to obtain, creative methods should be explored, such as using trend indicators instead of hard counts. In the information collection process it is important to include a feedback mechanism in order to avoid pure extraction and give something back to communities providing information. This is important as they might use such information for their own protection or begin preventive measures in case the state is unable or unwilling to do so.

This structure should ideally operate on multiple levels: local, district, provincial, national (women's ministries), sub-regional, regional and international. At each level an information exchange can be organised between different stakeholders who then agree on a linkage to the next higher level. This bottom-up method of information-sharing can be more practical and can include women's organisations which often only function at grassroots levels. It also minimises dependence on external structures.<sup>35</sup>

#### Step 3: Linking Warning to Response

It is always important to link a warning mechanism to a response mechanism, to ensure that information and analysis reaches those that can act upon it. A similar structure to that suggested under Step 2 can be used. At each level, information-collectors can link up to those stakeholders that are able to respond. Again, it may be easier to forge linkages at lower than higher levels.

### APPENDIX III: Attempt to Link Gender-Sensitive Indicators to Adequate Response Options

GENERIC (FAMILY) INDICATOR	EXAMPLE OF GENDERED INDICATOR	EXAMPLE OF RESPONSE OPTION
Root Causes - Political	Percentage of women in parliament	Support to women's political organisations; equality programmes
	Female suffrage (Year) Gender Empowerment Measure (GEM) Signatory to UNITED NATIONS Convention on the Elimination of all Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW)	International lobbying efforts
Root Causes - Economic	Percentage of women in 'official' labour force	Incentives for employers to drop discriminatory rules and actively employ women
	Gender-related Development Index (GDI)	Equal wages
	Percentage of women in work sectors (agricultural, industry, service)	Working programs for men and women, encouraging women to join the labour force
Root Causes - Social	Maternal mortality rate	Support for proper health care facilities and midwives
	Gender ratio at birth (preference of boys)	Support for families with girls (food, education, etc.)
	Infant and child mortality (malefemale ratio)	Improve health care for women and children.
	Female literacy rate (as compared to men)	Education programmes
	Average level of female education (as compared to men)	Support for girls' schooling; literacy campaigns targeting women; support for women's grass-roots organisations working in these areas.
	Average number of children per household	Medical information; family planning; contraception, awareness raising among men
	Female fertility rate/Contraceptive use by women	Education; awareness raising for both men and women on birth control and reproductive rights; (free) supply of birth control devices.

GENERIC (FAMILY) INDICATOR	EXAMPLE OF GENDERED INDICATOR	EXAMPLE OF RESPONSE OPTION
Proximate Causes - Cultural	Honour-shame culture	Introduce tolerance into education. Awareness raising campaigns.
	Perception of women as property	Awareness raising campaigns, change of discriminatory laws
	Cultural restrictions on women (owning of property etc.)	Awareness raising campaigns, change of discriminatory laws, UNITED NATIONS Conventions
	Cultural practice of institutionalised violence against women (female genital mutilation, sate, female infanticide, dowry deaths, honour killings etc.)	Support of (women's) organisations working toward producing cultural change. Education on women's rights. Support for safe houses for victims fleeing such cultural practices. Lobbying for gender as special category for asylumdeterminations. Social worker programs, trainings.
Proximate Causes - Political	Violation of women's human rights (including rape)	Education and awareness raising of women's rights. Support of indigenous organisations working on the protection of such rights, or providing shelter for women fleeing violations. UNITED NATIONS Conventions.
	Exclusionary or discriminatory laws, especially application of such (e.g. dress code, property rights etc.)	Lobbing efforts. Offering legal assistance to women. Conditionality in aid or sanctions (see Afghanistan).
	Protection of women under existing laws against offenses (persecution of offender)	Supporting policy reforms and organisations working in this direction.
	Punishment for non-compliance with laws (e.g. draft evasion)	International protection for asylum seekers. Conditionality in aid/sanctions.
Proximate Causes - Security	Incidences of rapes	Provision of safe zones for victims. Consider lobbying with government for allowing 'external security forces': training of military and police

GENERIC (FAMILY) INDICATOR	EXAMPLE OF GENDERED INDICATOR	EXAMPLE OF RESPONSE OPTION
Proximate Causes - Security  Demographic deviations from the norm	Sex-specific incidences of abduction / disappearances	International protests (bringing out in the open), appeals with government bodies, support of NGOs working in this area. Use of media to point out to the problem.
	Trafficking of women (sex trade, prostitution)	Education and code of conduct of 'good soldiers.' Curfew for soldiers after work-hours.
	Sexual abuse by security forces	Training of security forces to be 'good soldiers.'
	Diminished Market Activities	Offer international observer, police forces to increase security.
	Self-imposed curfews in bars etc.	Support community gatherings working on increasing security.
	Increased level of injuries due to bar-fights etc.	Introduce alternative activities such as sport.
Proximate Causes - Socio-Demographic	Sex-specific forced displacement (male/female only)	Adequate assistance and working toward permanent solutions.
	Sex-specific mortality rates (male/female only)	Offer international observer, police forces to increase security.
	Incidences of domestic violence (women, children)	Offer groups addressing aggression and alternative ways of dealing with it.
	Population Policies (esp. urging for increased birth rate)	Awareness raising campaigns, family planning, contraceptives.
Proximate Causes - Economic	Sex-specific unemployment (esp. of young men, youth bulge)	Employment programs for young men including additional training of necessary (or food for weapons/job for weapons programs)
	Sex-specific labour migration (men or women only)	Offer job incentive programs under aid conditionality.
	Increased sale of valuables (e.g. gold)	Monetary support

#### **APPENDIX IV: Participants at Expert Consultative Meetings**

#### **NGOs** and **Grassroots** Organisations

Waithera Ndungu, Abantu for Development

Mary Kuku, Nuba Association, African Indigenous Women Organisation

Brigitte Mutambala Mapendo, Africa Initiative Programme

Elizabeth Mutunga, Africa Peace Forum (APFO)

Noelle Nyakadekere Gisenya, Association des femmes Congolaises à Nairobi

Agnes Abuom, Building Eastern Africa Community Network (BEACON)

Jayne Kigadi Mbakaya, Chemchemi Ya Ukweli

Alice Kirambi, Christian Partners Development Agency (CPDA)

Miriam Gachago, Collaborative Centre for Gender and Development

Jerotich Seii, Education Centre for Women in Democracy (ECWD)

Patrick O. Onyango, Education Centre for Women in Democracy (ECWD)

Pamela Tuiyott, Education Centre for Women in Democracy (ECWD)

Jurusua Makumi, Federation of National Associations of Women in Business in Eastern and

Southern Africa (FEMCOM), Kenya

Ruth Vakebila-di-Banda, Grafadeco Kinshasa

Assani Bonzatina, Grafadeco Kinshasa

Judy Busolo Imbanga, Indigenous Information Network

Zeinab Mwango, Interfaith Peace Initiative

Bertha Amisi, Nairobi Peace Initiative - Africa

Wasye M. Musyoni, National Council of Churches of Kenya (NCCK)

Clène Nyiramahoro, NEGST

Sitouna A. Osman, New Sudan Women Federation

Tecla Wanjala, Peace and Development Network

Suzanne Nemeyimana, PRM/MAP International

Pauline Mukeshimana, Rassemblement Francophone Protestant Nairobi (RFPN)

Sibylle Mathis, cfd-Frauenstelle für Friedensarbeit (Woman and Peace NGO)

Bianca Mitglioretto, cfd-Frauenstelle für Friedensarbeit (Woman and Peace NGO)

Liliane Studer, Frauen & Entwicklung, HEKS (Aid Agency of the Protestant Church) –

German-speaking section

Corinne Hechoz Piagnani, Resonsable du Département Etranger, HEKS/EPER (Aid Agency of

the Protestant Church) - French-speaking section

Natascha Zupan, Peace building Center, Swiss Peace Foundation

Ellen Bernhardt, Swiss Peace Foundation

Maren Haartje, Swiss Peace Foundation

#### **UNITED NATIONS Organisations and International NGOs**

Sheila Mugo, Catholic Relief Services, Kenya/Tanzania

Francis Maklap Tulel, World Vision

Ned Greeley, United States Agency for International Development

Lee Foley, United States Agency for International Development

Lucy Hannan, IRIN (Integrated Regional Information Network), UNITED NATIONS OCHA

Emmanuel Muamba, UNESCO Culture of Peace Network

Nureldin Satti, UNESCO

Guy Avognon, United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR)

Hodan Addou, United Nations Development Fund for Women (UNIFEM)

Nyambura Githagui, World Bank

Elodie Marandet, International Organisation for Migration

Ida Mae Fernandez, Organisation for Migration

Jennifer Klot, United Nations Development Fund for Women

Lisa Smirl, United Nations Development Programme (UNDP)

John Clarke, Office for the Co-ordination of Humanitarian Affairs

Guenter Hemrich, Food & Agricultural Organisation (FAO)

Suzanne Williams, Oxfam

Juliette Prodhan, Oxfam

Kate Hart, Christian Aid

Georgina Ashworth, Change

Karin Ulmer, Aprodev

Hesta Groenewald, Saferworld

Kathleen Armstrong, CODEP

Maria Holt, Council for the Advancement of Arab-British Understanding

Ariane Brunet, International Centre for Human Rights and Democratic Development

Julie Shaw, Urgent Action Fund

Angela Woodward, Vertic

Rosy Cave, Landmine Action

Jessika Trancik, WSP International

Peggy Knudson, Women in International Security

Zarghona Rassa, Afghan Women's Group

Uranus Rasooli, Afghan Women's Committee

Brita Schmidt, Womankind Worldwide

Eva Dalak, European Centre for Common Ground, Brussels

Ana Angarita-Nogura, Human Rights Officer, Gender, UNHCHR

Christina Saunders, Human Rights Officer, UNHCHR

Ute Kollies-Cummings, Gender Unit, UNOCHA

Grace Akpabio, UNHCR

Monika Kaempf, Women and War Project, ICRC

#### Research Institutes and Universities

Jeremy Lind, African Centre for Technology Studies (ACTS)

Njeri Karuru, Centre for Conflict Research

John Joseph Okumu, Centre for Refugee Studies, Moi University

Howard Adelman, York University

Tsjeard Bouta, Clingandael Institute

Lambrecht Wessels, The Network University

Claske Dijkema, The Network University
Christine Chinkin, London School of Economics
Mark Hoffman, London School of Economics
Paola Brambilla, Institute of Development Studies (BRIDGE)
Maja Korac, Refugee Studies Centre
Pierson Ntata, Warwick University
Bridget Walker, Responding to Conflict
Yvonne Kambale Kavvo, Independent consultant
Tahmina Rachman, Independent consultant

#### **Governments**

Beth Richardson, Canadian High Commission, UK
Leslie Groves, Department for International Development (DflD), UK
Roy Trivedi, Department for International Development (DflD), UK
Indranil Chakrabarti, Department for International Development (DflD), UK
Ms Rosien Herweijer, Dutch MOFA (Women & Development Division), The Netherlands
Maya Walder, Defence Ministry, Swiss Department of Foreign Affairs
Kristina Wagner, Federal Office for Gender Equality, Swiss Department of Foreign Affairs
Siri Walt, European-Atlantic Security, Swiss Department of Foreign Affairs
Esther Schaufelberger, Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation (SDC)

# **Endnotes**

- The recent paper by Reiman (2001) on gender and prevention written for the German Technical Co-operation (GTZ) was developed in parallel to this paper and does not deal systematically with engendering early warning. There is however a substantial body of feminist theory that has dealt with security issues and gender in international relations that is very useful for the present discourse (see for example Tickner 1992, Enloe 1990, 1993, 2000, Peterson 1992, Pierson 1987, Pietilä and Vickers 1990, Ruddick 1989)
- I would like to acknowledge the input by Chrystel Ferret from the Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation who helped clarify my thinking on the difference of introducing a gender-sensitive focus vs. a complete engendering of early warning practices.
- 3 The United Nations Disaster Relief Organisation began in 1972 and United Nations Environment Programme created the Global Environmental Monitoring System (GEMS) in 1975 (Ramcharan 1991). In the same year the Food and Agricultural Organisation of the United Nations (FAO) established the Global Information and Early Warning System on Food and Agriculture (GIEWS) and in the late 1980s the U.S. Agency for Development designed a Famine Early Warning System (FEWS) in order to avoid a repeat of the drought and famine disaster in the Sahel and Ethiopia (Rashid 1998, Whelan 1998). In 1987 the Office for Research and the Collection of Information (ORCI) became the focal early warning point in the UNITED NATIONS system until its abolition by UNITED NATIONS Secretary General Boutros-Ghali in 1992. The UNITED NATIONS Department of Humanitarian Affairs - renamed Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (UNOCHA) - developed the Humanitarian Early Warning System (HEWS) in 1993 (Dedring 1994, Ahmed and Kassinis 1998). In 1999, HEWS was disbanded and UNOCHA began to re-evaluate its role in the field of early warning (briefly considering a search for key indicators). Parallel to these mid-1990s initiatives, information consolidation emerged with the Integrated Regional Information Network (IRIN) and ReliefWeb under UNOCHA and Reliefworld and RefugeeNet under UNHCR. The Department of Political Affairs also briefly toyed with the idea of creating an internal information system called POLIS (Vacchina 1992).
- 4 See, for example, Gurr (1996), Adelman (1998), Rusu (1997), Schmeidl and Jenkins (1998a), FEWER (1999), PIOOM (1999).
- While early warning includes the formulation of response options it does not actually implement the response. Thus, this paper is limited to a discussion on how to engender early warning and not humanitarian action as whole. Several scholars have warned of the need to separate analysis from decision-making in order to prepare policy options that are as objective as possible (Gurr 1996, Adelman 1998).
- Goldstein (2001) goes even so far as arguing against a clear separation between sex and gender, as he asserts, 'biology provides diverse potentials, and cultures limit, select, and channel them' (p.9). Interestingly he finds that 'the areas where gender roles tend to be most constant across societies political leadership, hunting, and certain

- coming-of-age rituals are those most closely connected with war' (Goldstein 2001, p.12). As Goldstein's book is still forthcoming, I am using the page citation from the web version of his introduction:
- 7 http://www.american.edu/academic.depts/sis/goldtext/wargendr.htm
- There are very few societies with matriarchal structures or where women hold a superior status over men. The societies where women have achieved a near equal status to men are also very small in number. Thus, one could argue that without actually being a minority in number, women are always among groups lower in status than men.
- These developments can be traced through the four United Nations women's conferences (1975, 1980, 1985, and 1995) that began to focus on gender rather than women only. In the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action (PFA) adopted at the Fourth World Conference on Women in 1995, governments committed themselves to ensuring that a gender perspective was reflected in all their policies and programs (United Nations 1996).
- Innovative and more comprehensive approaches that aim to link field-based analysts to policy makers as developed by FEWER (the Forum on Early Warning and Early Response), or those with direct mandates from policy makers (e.g. the Conflict Prevention Network (CPN) of the European Union Analysis and Evaluation Center, the FAST (Early Warning of Tension and Fact Finding) project of the Swiss Peace Foundation) have begun to make some headway in closing the existing gaps.
- Comments and discussion with Esther Schaufelberger from the Conflict Prevention Unit at the Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation helped crystallise these points.
- For criticisms on the technical aspects of early warning see, for example Adelman and Suhrke (1996), Schmeidl and Jenkins (1998a), George and Holl (2000), Jentleson (2000 and case studies and his book), and Schmeidl (2001). For a summary of other reasons that are linked to the failure of early warning see Schmeidl (2001, 2002b).
- 13 While we argue that early warning cannot be solely engendered by the inclusion of women, in a system that still tends to bias against women, it is nevertheless important to point out the role women could play.
- 14 Feminist international relations scholars have long argued that this notion of women 'expanding the agenda for discussion' is also evident at local and national levels within conflict zones. Recent studies show that in Northern Ireland, Guatemala and Liberia women introduce a wider range of issues, such as access to health care, education, employment, human rights and land rights into discussions on 'peace and security' (Barandun 1999, Anderlini 2000). As women are often involved in informal networks based on trade, clan and family ties across social structures and ethnic groups, they could provide a more nuanced understanding of the complexities of cross ethnic/cultural community relations. Also, 'the fact that women recognise the

connection between the domestic and public domains, or between the 'home front' and the 'war front' (Nnaemeka 1997) has been noted by many writers on conflict and gender (Bennett et al 1995 cited in Sorenson 1998, Byrne 1995, Jama 1996). 'Increasingly, women are realising that in order to change society, they must begin with the family and the community, for 'women's capacity to challenge the men in their families, their communities, or their political movements will be a key to remaking the world' (Enloe, quoted in Ferris 1992, p.47).

- The importance of this has already been expressed through the Strategic Objective H.3: Generate and disseminate gender-disaggregated data and information for planning and evaluation (United Nations 1996). Beth Woroniuk (1999) who has worked on indicators for peace building produced some interesting recommendations that benefited this discussion. One of the first gender-sensitive early warning indicators was used in famine early warning where the weight of girl babies was used to anticipate food-crises. If the weight of babies of both sexes had been used, the warning might have come too late as in many cultures boys are favoured in nutrition and care.
- 16 It needs to be re-emphasised that this does not imply a sole focus on women, rather the development of indicators that distinguish the different needs, impacts on and positions of men and women.
- 17 Although sex-disaggregated data was not widely available until about 10 years ago.
- The Human Development Index is currently 'a composite of three basic components of human development: longevity, knowledge and standard of living. Longevity is measured by life expectancy. Knowledge is measured by a combination of adult literary (two-thirds weights) and mean years of schooling (one-third weight). Standard of living is measured by purchasing power, based on real GDP per capita adjusted for the local cost of living (purchasing power parity, or PPP)' (UNDP 1994, p.91; original emphasis).
- 'The first cluster of variables is chosen to reflect economic participation and decision-making power. It includes women's and men's percentage shares of administrative and managerial positions and percentage shares of professional and technical jobs. ... The second variable is chosen to reflect political participation and decision-making power. It is women's and men's percentage shares of parliamentary seats. ... The variable we choose to reflect power over economic resources is unadjusted real GDP per capita, which is used in both the HDI and the GDI ... As the final step, we simply add the indices for each of our three clusters of variable sand divide by 3. This gives us the overall GEM' (UNDP 1995, pp.132-133).
- Clark strongly benefited from the work of the late Fred Cuny; see also Gordenker (1986, 1989a, 1989b, 1992); Kanninen (1990), Schmeidl (1995, 1997), and Schmeidl and Jenkins (1998b).
- The data on women in politics worldwide, however, make me wonder how close we are to a critical mass. In the 1980s, women made up about 5 percent of heads of state, cabinet ministers, and senior policy makers worldwide, and about 10 percent of

members of national legislatures and senior officials in inter-governmental organisations. In the United States, fewer than 10 percent of legislators were women. Norway had the highest percentage of women legislators in the world, but over 98 percent of chairpersons of the powerful municipal councils were men, as were nearly 90 percent of Norwegian judges. (The ten countries with most women in legislatures were all either communist or Nordic countries, where legislatures held little real power.) In Sweden, men made up 90 percent of senior government officials. In China, 67 ministries were headed by men and the other five were vacant. Among the top 4,000 executives of Fortune 500 companies, fewer than half of one percent were women. In the past 15 years, this data has changed only incrementally. By 1997, women still held only 15 percent of seats in national legislatures in developed countries and about 10 percent in developing countries. As of 2000, women's seats in legislatures worldwide stands at 14 percent (and only in 6 small Northern European countries does it exceed 33 percent). In 1995, the world's UNITED NATIONS delegation heads were 97 percent male' (Goldstein 2001, p.30).

- 22 http://www.american.edu/academic.depts/sis/goldtext/wargendr.htm
- Given that currently very few states even reach above the 30 percent threshold which is argued to create a 'critical mass' in terms of policy impact, it is perhaps fair to suggest that this variable may become more powerful as women are increasingly included in political positions.
- 24 China might be an exception since the government controls the low fertility rate.
- Even though women have been active as fighters or within the ranks of the military, the overwhelming ethos so far has been male dominated. 'With notable exceptions, past and present, women have not made decisions about wars, women have not fought in wars, women have not even written about wars, and women certainly have not been present to judge war's aftermath. Women are war's victims, often its supporters, and usually its symbolism, but waging war is male territory' (Niarchos 1995, p.669). 'Most wars have been fought with the acquiescence and support of women' (Ferris 1992, p.6). Angola, El Salvador, Eritrea, Kenya, Lebanon, Liberia, Nicaragua, Sri Lanka, Uganda, and Vietnam all had female fighters, in some cases even holding high level positions (Kanogo 1987, Bennet et al. 1995 in Sorenson 1998, p.182).
- Researchers point to the generally held opinion that whatever happens to a man is considered to occur in the public sphere and whatever happens to a women happens in the private sphere (see e.g., Kelly 1993, Giles 1993). And, international organisations are only allowed to intervene in the public sphere while the private sphere is still considered a 'hands-off-topic.'
- Observations made during a Spring 1999 Swiss Peace Foundation workshop in Kyrgyzstan.
- In the latter case, it might be beneficial to provide an overview of existing peace initiatives (internal, regional and international) and assess the feasibility of these

- initiatives and their chance for success or failure, and list and assess also other major initiatives and policies (multilateral, bilateral, track 1,2,3 diplomacy, civil society, aid community etc.).
- This section in particular benefited from commentary and discussions with Esther Schaufelberger from the Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation.
- This came out very strongly from all three consultations held so far in Nairobi, Kenya, Berne, Switzerland, and London, UK.
- 'Women's peace activism has a long history.... Peace was an important plank of the suffrage program, and pacifist women during World War I organised the Women's Peace Party' (Goldstein 2001, p.31).
- Most micro-level responses also tend to emphasise long-term prevention of the structures that can lead to and/or accelerate armed conflicts. It also increases sustainability of positive factors.
- This may also apply to men in some situations.
- The real challenge is not simply in realising the problems and creating program guidelines, rather the difficulty lies in the subtle issue of implementation of guidelines and programs that have already been developed (in the case of UNHCR and refugee women since 1988). Thus, field and relief workers need to be sensitised to the needs of vulnerable groups and trained to recognise such needs. Gender mainstreaming can slowly produce these changes.
- 35 Ultimately however, there is still insufficient data to prove if and how increased numbers of women in relevant decision-making posts would alter the responses of multi-lateral organisations or military operations.
- The Platform for Action of the 1995 Beijing United Nations Fourth World Conference on Women argued that women's absence from decision-making related to peace, security, and conflict resolution hinders the achievement of the goals of equality, development and peace (United Nations 1996, paragraphs 23, 134, 181).
- For an example of such a system see Mwaûra and Schmeidl (2002).

## **Works Cited**

Adelman, Howard. 1998. Defining Humanitarian Early Warning'. In Susanne Schmeidl and Howard Adelman (eds.) Early Warning and Early Response. New York: Columbia International Affairs Online (Columbia University Press). http://www.ciaonet.org.

Adelman, Howard and Astri Suhrke. 1996. The International Response to Conflict and Genocide: Lessons from the Rwanda Experience. Part 2: Early Warning and Conflict Management: Genocide in Rwanda. Joint Evaluation of Emergency Assistance to Rwanda, Copenhagen: DANIDA.

Ahmed, Adeel and Elisabeth Voulieris Kassinis. 1998. 'The Humanitarian Early Warning System: From Concept to Practice.' In John L. Davies and Ted Robert Gurr (eds.) Preventive Measures: Building Risk Assessment and Crises Early Warning Systems. Lanham, Maryland: Rowman and Littlefield Publishers.

Anderlini, Sanam N. 2000. Women at the Peacetable, Making a Difference. New York, UNIFEM.

Barandun, Patricia. 1999. A Gender Perspective on Conflict Resolution: The Development of the Northern Ireland Women's Coalition (NIWC) and its Role in the Multi-Party Peace Talks (1996-1998). Bern, Switzerland: Swiss Peace Foundation Working Paper (3).

Beck, Tony. 1999. 'Using Gender Sensitive Indicators: A Reference Manual for Governments and Other Stakeholders' Gender Management Series.' London: Commonwealth Secretariat.

Brock-Utne, Birgit. 1989. 'Gender and cooperation in the laboratory.' *Journal of Peace Research* 26(1).

Brumfield, Elizabeth M. 1994. 'Origins of Social Inequity.' Pp.83-101 in Carol R. Ember and Melvin Ember (eds.) Research Frontiers in Anthropology. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.

Byrne, Bridget. 1995. *Gender, conflict and development*. Report prepared at the request of the Netherlands' Special Programe on WID, Ministry of Foreign Affairs on a conference on gender, conflict and development of the Vrouwenberaad Ontwikkelingssamenwerking. Bridge On-Line Reports (34). http://www.ids.ac.uk/bridge/reports\_gend\_con\_em.htm

Callamard, Agnes. 1993. 'Flower is Power: The Division of Labour in Refugee Camps.' First Conference on Gender Issues and Refugees: Development Implications. York University, York, Ontario, Canada; May 9-11, 1993.

Caprioli, Mary. 2000. 'Gendered Conflict.' Journal of Peace Research. 37(1):51-68.

Chretien, Jean Pierre. 1995. Ruanda: Les Medias Du Genocide. Karthala.

Clark, Lance. 1989. Early Warning of Refugee Flows. Washington, DC: Refugee Policy Group.

d'Adesky, Anne-Christine. 1991. 'UNHCR: Facing the Refugee Challenge.' UNITED NATIONS Chronicle 28(3):40-57.

Dedring, Juergen. 1994. 'Early Warning and the United Nations.' *The Journal of Ethno-Development*. Special Issue on Early Warning of Communal Conflicts and Humanitarian Crises, 4(1):98-105.

Enloe, Cynthia. 2000. Maneuvers: The International Politics of Militarizing Women's Lives. Berkeley, California: University of California Press.

1993. The Morning After: Sexua	ıl Politics at	the End	of the	Cold War.	Berkeley,	California:
University of California Press.					,	

\_\_\_\_\_. 1990. Bananas, Beaches, and Bases: Making Feminist Sense of International Politics. Berkeley, California: University of California Press.

Erchak, Gerald M. and Richard Rosenfeld. 1994. 'Societal Isolations, Violent Norms, and Gender Relations: A Re-examination and Extension of Levinson's Model of Wife Beating.' Cross Cultural Research 28(2):111-133.

Fein, Helen. 1992. Genocide Watch. New Haven: Yale University Press.

\_\_\_\_\_. 1993. 'Accounting for Genocide after 1945: Theories and Some Findings.' International Journal of Group Rights 1:79-106.

Ferris, Elizabeth. 1992. Women, war and peace: an issue paper. Uppsala, Sweden: Life and Peace Institute, Uppsala, April 1992.

\_\_\_\_.1987. The Central American Refugees. New York: Praeger Publishers.

FEWER. 1999. FEWER Conflict and Peace Analysis and Response Manual. London: FEWER.

George, Alexander L. and Jane E. Holl. 2000. 'The Warning-Response Problem and Missed Opportunities in Preventive Diplomacy.' Pp.21-39 in Bruce W. Jentleson (Ed.) *Opportunities Missed, Opportunities Seized: Preventive Diplomacy in the Post-Cold War World.* Lanham, Maryland: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, Inc. (for the Carnegie Commission on Preventing Deadly Conflict).

Giles, Wenona. 1993. 'An Historical Comparison of Gender Awareness in International Development Policy and Refugee Policy.' First Conference on Gender Issues and Refugees: Development Implications. York University, York, Ontario, Canada; May 9-11, 1993.

Goldstein, Joshua. 2001. War and Gender: How Gender shapes the War System and Vice Versa. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Gordenker, Leon. 1992. 'Early Warning: Conceptual amd Practical Issues.' In Kumar Rupesinghe and Michiko Kuroda (eds.) *Early Warning and Conflict Resolution*. London: The MacMillan Press, Ltd.

I'	989a. 'Early	Warning	of Refugee	Incidents:	Potentials	and (	Obstacle.'	In Gil	Loescher
and Leila	Monahan	(eds.) Refu	ugees and In	nternational	Relations.	Oxfo	ord: Clarer	ndon P	ress.

\_\_\_\_\_. 1989b. 'Refugees in International Politics.' In D. de Jong and A. Voet (eds.) Refugees in the World: The European Community's Response. Amsterdam/Utrecht: Dutch Refugee Council and Netherlands Institute of Human Rights.

\_\_\_\_\_. 1986 'Early Warning of Disastrous Population Movement.' *International Migration Review*, 20(2): 270-193.

Gurr, Ted Robert. 1996. 'Early Warning Systems: From Surveillance to Assessment of Action.' Pp.123-144 in Kevin M. Chill (Ed.) *Preventive Diplomacy: Stopping Wars Before they Start.* Basic Books.

Gurr, Ted Robert and Will H. Moore. 1997. 'Ethnopolitical Rebellion: A Cross-Sectional Analysis of the 1980s with Risk Assessments for the 1990s,' American Journal of Political Science, 41(4):1079-1103.

Harff, Barbara. 1998. 'Early Warning of Humanitarian Crises: Sequential Models and the Role of Accelerators.' In John L. Davies and Ted Robert Gurr (eds.) *Preventive Measures: Building Risk Assessment and Crises Early Warning Systems*. Lanham, Maryland: Rowman and Littlefield Publishers. Heuveline, Patrick. 2001. 'The Demographic Analysis of Mortality Crises: The Case of Cambodia,' Pp. 102-129 in H. Reed and C. Kelley (Eds.) *Forced Migration and Mortality*. *Washington*, D.C.: National Academy Press.

Human Rights Watch. 1996. Shattered Lives: Sexual Violence during the Rwandan Genocide and its Aftermath. London: Human Rights Watch.

Huntington, Samuel P. 1999. 'A Local Front of a Global War' *The New York Times*, December 16, 1999.

Jentleson, Bruce W. 2000. (Ed.) Opportunities Missed, Opportunities Seized: Preventive Diplomacy in the Post-Cold War World. Lanham, Maryland: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, Inc. (for the Carnegie Commission on Preventing Deadly Conflict).

Jones, Adam J. 2000. "Gendercide" and Girl Scout Cookies: After Kosovo. Paper presented at the 41st Annual Convention of the International Studies Association, Los Angeles, CA March 14-18, 2000.

Jongman, Berto. 1990. 'The Most Unfortunate Nations in the World: A Brief Survey of Various Databases.' *PIOOM Newsletter* 2(2):14-17.

Kanninen, Tapio. 1990. Early Warning of Forced Migration in the United Nations: Conceptual and Practical Issues. Paper prepared for a Seminar on 'Development Strategies on Forced Migration in the Third World.' The Hague: Institute of Social Studies.

Karl, Marilee. 1995. Women and Empowerment: Participation and Decision Making. London: Zed Books.

Kelly, Nancy. 1993. 'Representing Women Asylum-Seekers Gender-based Social Groups.' Presented at the First Conference on Gender Issues and Refugees: Development Implications. York University, York, Ontario, Canada; May 9-11, 1993.

Kvinna till Kvinna. 2001. Getting it Right? A Gender Approach to UNMIK Administration in Kosovo. Halmstad, Sweden: Bulls Tryckeri.

Kolb, Deborah M. and Gloria G. Coolidge, 1988. Her Place at the Table: A Consideration of Gender Issues in Negotiation. Harvard Program on Negotiation Working Paper Series, reprinted in J. William Breslin and Jeffrey Z. Rubin (eds.) 1991. Negotiation Theory and Practice. Cambridge, MA: Program on Negotiation Books.

Kunz, Egon F. 1973. 'The Refugee in Flight: Kinetic Models and Forms of Displacement.' *International Migration Review* 7(2):125-146.

Last, David. 1997. 'Defeating Fear and Hatred: Multiplying the Peace building Impact of a Military Contribution.' *Canadian Foreign Policy* (Winter 1997, early draft).

Leonhardt, Manuela. 2000. Conflict Impact Assessment of EU Development Cooperation with ACP Countries; A Review of Literature and Practice. London: International Alert, Saferworld

Levinson, David 1989. Family Violence in Cross-Cultural Perspective. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.

Ludi, Eva. 1999. Interview on Field Experience in Ethiopia, Swiss Peace Foundation, Institute for Conflict Resolution.

Lund, Michael S. 1996. Preventing Violent Conflicts: A Strategy for Preventive Diplomacy. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Institute of Peace.

Marshall, Monty and Donna Ramsey. 1999 'Gender Empowerment and the Willingness to Use Force.' Paper presented at the Annual Convention of the *International Studies Association Annual Meeting*, Washington, DC: February 16-20.

Marshall, Ruth. 1995. 'Refugees, Feminine Plura.' Refugees, Focus: Refugee Women. 100(2): 3-9.

Motsisi, Dodo Thandiwe. 1993. 'Southern African Perspective on Refugees and Development.' First Conference on Gender Issues and Refugees: Development Implications. York University, York, Ontario, Canada; May 9-11, 1993.

Mwaûra, Cirû and Susanne Schmeidl. 2002 (forthcoming; eds.). Early Warning and Conflict Management in the Horn of Africa. Lawrenceville, NJ: Red Sea Press.

Niarchos, Catherine N. 1995. 'Women, War, and Rape: Challenges Facing The International Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia.' *Human Rights Quarterly* 17(4): 649-690.

Peterson, V. Spike. 1992. (ed.) *Gendered States: Feminist (Re)visions of International Relations Theory*. Boulder: Lynne Rienner.

Pierson, Ruth Roach. 1987 (ed.). Women and Peace: Theoretical, Historical, and Practical Perspectives. London: Croom Helm, 1987.

Pietilä, Hilkka and Jeanne Vickers. 1990. Making Women Matter: The Role of the United Nations. London: Zed Books.

PIOOM. 1999. World Conflict and Human Rights Map, Leiden: University of Leiden, PIOOM.

Ramcharan, B.G. 1991. The International Law and Practice of Early Warning and Preventive Diplomacy. Dordrecht: Martinus Nijhoff.

Rashid, Abdur. 1998. 'The Global Information and Early Warning System on Food and Agriculture'. In John L. Davies and Ted Robert Gurr (eds.) *Preventive Measures: Building Risk Assessment and Crises Early Warning Systems*. Lanham, Maryland: Rowman and Littlefield Publishers.

Refugee Policy Group. 1983. Early Warning of Refugee Mass Influx Emergencies. Washington, DC: Refugee Policy Group.

Reiman, Cordula. 2001. Toward Gender Mainstreaming in Crisis Prevention and Conflict Management. Eschborn: Deutsche Gesellschaft für Technische Zusammenarbeit (GTZ).

Rubin, Jeffrey Z. and Bert R. Brown. 1975. The Social Psychology of Bargaining and Negotiation. New York: Academic Press.

Ruddick, Sara. 1989. Maternal Thinking: Toward a Politics of Peace. New York: Ballantine Books.

Rusu, Sharon. 1997. 'Early Warning and Information: The Role of ReliefWeb'. In Susanne Schmeidl and Howard Adelman (eds.) Synergy Early Warning Conference Proceedings. York/Toronto: York University, York Center for International and Security Studies.

Sadik, Nafis. 1997. State of the World Population. United Nations Fund for Population Activities, New York: United Nations Publications.

http://www.unfpa.org/swp/1997/swpmain.htm

Schmeidl, Susanne. 2002a. '(Human) Security Dilemmas: Long-term Implications of the Afghan Refugee Crisis.' Third World Quarterly 23(1).

2002b. 'Conflict Early Warning and Prevention: Toward a Coherent Terminology.' In Cirû Mwaûra and Susanne Schmeidl (eds.) Early Warning and Conflict Management in the Horn of Africa. Lawrenceville, NJ: Red Sea Press.
2001. 'Early Warning and Integrated Response Development.' Romanian Journal of Political Science (Special Issue on Conflict and Reconciliation sponsored by UNDP Office Romania). I (2):4-50.
1997. 'Exploring the Causes of Forced Migration: A Pooled Time-Series Analysis, 1971-1990.' Social Science Quarterly 78(2):284-309.
1999. FAST Workshop Report: Early Warning in Practice: The Case of Tajikistan, Uzbekistan, and Kyrgyzstan. The Soviet and Post-Soviet Review 24(3), 1997:161-175.
1995. From Root Cause Assessment to Preventive Diplomacy: Possibilities and Limitation of the Early Warning of Forced Migration. The Ohio State University, Ph.D. Dissertation.
Schmeidl, Susanne and J. Craig Jenkins. 1998a. 'The Early Warning of Humanitarian Disasters: Problems in Building an Early Warning System.' <i>International Migration Review</i> 32(2): 471-487.
Schmeidl, Susanne and J. Craig Jenkins. 1998b. 'Early Warning Indicators of Forced Migration.' Pp.56-70 in John Davies and Ted Robert Gurr, (eds), 1998. Preventive Measures: Building Risk Assessment and Crisis Early Warning Systems. Totowa, NJ: Rowman and Littlefield.
Schmeidl, Susanne and Zahra Popatia. 1997. 'The Silent Majority? Exploring the Gender Composition of Refugee Populations.' Presented at the Annual Meeting of the Popu lation Association of America, Washington, D.C., USA.
Schmid, A. P. 1996. PIOOM's Master List of Potential and 'Good Prospect' Domestic Conflict (De)Escalation Indicators. Leiden, The Netherlands: PIOOM.
Segal, Lynne. 1987. Is The Future Female? Troubled Thoughts on Contemporary Feminism. Women's Press
Sorenson, Birgitte. 1998. Women and Post-Conflict Reconstruction. War-torn Societies Project Occasional Paper No. 3. Geneva: United Nations Research Institute for Social Development.
Tickner, Anne J. 1999. 'Why Women Can't Run the World: International Politics According to Francis Fukuyama.' <i>International Studies Review.</i> 1(3):3-13.
1992. Gender in International Relations. New York: Columbia University Press.
UNDP. 1994. Human Development Report 1994. New York: Oxford University Press.
UNDP. 1995. Human Development Report 1995. New York: Oxford University Press.
United Nations Division for the Advancement of Women. 1996 Report of the Expert Group Meeting on Political Decision-Making and Conflict Resolution: the Impact of Gender Difference. Santo Domingo, Dominican Republic, 7-11 October 1996 (EGM/PDCR/1996/REP. I).
United Nations. 2000. Mainstreaming a Gender Perspective in Multidimensional Peace Operations. New York: United Nations, Lessons Learned Unit, Department of Peacekeeping Operations.
1998. 'Sexual violence and armed conflict: United Nations response.' Women 2000. (April).

1995. The World's Women 1995: Trends and Statistics. New York: United Nations.
1996. The Beijing Declaration and the Platform for Action. New York: United Nations Department of Public Information.
Vacchina, Paolo. 1992. Polis (Information System for the DPA): Preliminary Requirements Analysis. Internal Working Paper, New York: UNITED NATIONS Department of Political Affairs.
Weingarten, Helen R. and Elizabeth Douvan, 1985. 'Male and Female Visions of Mediation,' Negotiation Journal. 1(4):349-358.
Whelan, William P. 1998. 'USAID's Famine Early Warning System: From Concept to Practice'. In John L. Davies and Ted Robert Gurr (eds.) <i>Preventive Measures: Building Risk Assessment and Crises Early Warning Systems</i> . Lanham, Maryland: Rowman and Littlefield Publishers.
Woroniuk, Beth. 1999. <i>Mainstreaming a Gender Perspective</i> . Paper prepared for the Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA). Ottawa, Canada: CIDA.
2001. 'Mainstreaming a Gender Perspective.' in Luc Reychler and Thania Paffenholz (eds.) Peace building: A Field Guide. Boulder, Colorado: Lynne Rienner Publishers.

### **International Alert**

1 Glyn Street London SE11 5HT

Tel: +44 (020) 7793 8383 Fax: +44 (020) 7793 7975 www.womenbuildingpeace.org www.international-alert.org

### **Swiss Peace Foundation**

Sonnenbergstrasse 17-19 Postfach CH-3000 Bern 7 Switzerland

Tel: +41 (0) 31 330 12 12 Fax: +41 (0) 31 330 12 13 www.swisspeace.ch

ISBN: 1-898702-13-6

